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Tadeusz Leon Haska in Dar owo,  
Poland, 1945–1946 
 

STEFANIE NAUMANN* (Stockton, Kalifornia) 

My grandfather, Tadeusz Leon Haska (Fig. 1), was born in Miko-
ajki,1 a village near Nowe Miasto Lubawskie, Poland in 1919. Orphaned 

at the age of thirteen, he and his twelve-year-old brother, Antoni Alojz 
Haska, lived alone in a one-room apartment in Chodzie  (Wielkopolska 
Region) throughout their high school years. To support themselves, 
Tadeusz tutored other children and wrote articles for the local newspa-
per. Antoni sold his artwork that included painted postcards, sculptures 
and wood carvings. They managed to survive high school on their own, 
but they had to burn all of the furniture in their apartment to keep 
warm. World War II began as Tadeusz began his second year at Pozna  
University, which is now known as Adam Mickiewicz University,2 and 
Antoni was preparing to attend an art academy. During the war, Antoni 
was forcibly sent to work by the Arbeitsamt. For the first three years, he 
worked as a farm worker in the village of Swoboda in central Poland. For 
the remaining years of the war, he was sent to the estate of Witów in 
southern Poland. Tadeusz was a member of the Polish underground re-
sistance movement during the war. He survived the war largely on the 
run, using his knowledge of numerous languages to stay alive, as he re-
calls in his 2019 memoir How Languages Saved Me: A Polish Story of 

Survival (Haska, Naumann 2019).3 He translated German newspapers 

* Eberhardt School of Business, University of the Pacific, Stockton, California, 95219 
USA, e-mail: snaumann@pacific.edu 

1 http://encyklopedia.warmia.mazury.pl/index.php/Miko%C5%82ajki_(gmina_Kurz%C
4%99tnik) 

2 http://international.amu.edu.pl/ 
3 Preparing this text I also used Tadeusz Leon Haska’s personal documents, journals, 

photo albums, and interviews captured via audio and video recordings in 1989, 1990, 2005, 

2006 and 2009. 
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Fig. 1./Ryc. 1. Tadeusz Leon Haska 

to farmers and job instructions to French prisoners of war, and even im-
personated some Nazis on occasion. 

When the war ended in 1945, Tadeusz returned to his university 
town of Pozna . He hoped to resume his studies, but the school was in 
the process of re-organizing itself to get rid of all German changes im-
posed. There was a lot of work to be done. Tadeusz went to a Polish 
Western Union organization and asked for a job in the regained territo-
ries. Poland regained western territories, and he got an assignment to 
the town Derlow,4 which is now known as Dar owo. Tadeusz described it 
as a beautiful little coastal town on the Baltic Sea that was not destroyed 
by any German or Soviet war actions. The Polish population started ar-
riving, and the Germans started migrating to Germany. 

Before and during the WWII, there was a center of German com-
mand; when they left, the Soviet army moved in and again it was a seat 
of a Soviet Russian commanding general. Tadeusz reported to the mayor, 
Stanis aw Dulewicz, who had previously been a professor at a high 
school. He was forcibly sent by Germans to work in Germany (Rügenwal-
de/Dar owo) during the war. When he was liberated, he was nominated 

4 It was a German town called Rügenwalde which was re-named as Der ow. 
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mayor of the town. Since he had previously been a professor, he dreamed 
of organizing a Polish high school and junior college in this town. Alt-
hough he was mayor, he also became director of the junior college. He 
gave Tadeusz two jobs. During the daytime, Tadeusz helped establish 
Polish administration of the town and even officiated at some weddings, 
including that of current Dar owo resident Brygida Jerzewska. He served 
as secretary of a six-person city council. The other council members were 
Mayor Stanis aw Dulewicz, Piotr Paul, Anna Villier, Zbigniew Czarnecki, 
and Ludwik Dzierzanowski. Tadeusz also worked on a committee to re-
name the streets of Dar owo. 

In the evening, Tadeusz was a teacher of Polish language and litera-
ture, Latin, and French. He worked twelve- to fourteen-hour days, but 
was very happy. The students who enrolled in this junior college were 
young people who lost a lot of time because of the duration of the war (5½ 
years). They were very eager to study, and, for Tadeusz, it was a real 
pleasure to teach them. 

During the time he was teaching in Dar owo, Tadeusz met his future 
wife, Jadwiga. Her parents named her after Saint Jadwiga (1178/80–1243) 
and Queen Jadwiga (1373/4–1399). When he saw her at a concert in 
Dar owo, it was love at first sight. She was there with her friend Danka, 
and Tadeusz was there with his friend, who was a priest. During the 
intermission at the concert, Tadeusz went over to Jadwiga and 
introduced himself. Two days later, Tadeusz sent her roses and a letter 
asking for a date. It was nearly impossible to get flowers in Poland in 
September 1945, so he made quite an impression on her. Whenever 
Tadeusz would bring Jadwiga flowers throughout their fifty-seven-year 
marriage, it always brought a smile to her face. 

Tadeusz proposed on a bridge over the river Wieprza under the light 
of the moon. He told Jadwiga that she would always have everything she 
needed, but that he was not someone to chase after money. Their wed-
ding on September 18, 1946, was tiny and quiet. Because Tadeusz be-
longed to an anti-Communist political party, he needed to keep a low 
public profile. The only family member to attend the wedding was Tade-
usz’s brother, Antoni. The official witnesses of record were Stefania Da-
nuta Grunwald, a civil servant, residing in Dar owo at 24 Cegielniana 
Street, and Jan Koczarowski, a civil servant, residing in Dar owo at  
69 Morska Street. 

Even though Tadeusz was a teacher, Jadwiga’s parents were skepti-
cal of him for a while. They were from Warsaw, a big city, and saw him 
as a peasant boy from the countryside. There were even prejudices about 
eye color. City dwellers like Jadwiga’s parents were more likely to have 
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brown eyes and Polish people in the countryside were more likely to have 
blue eyes. Jadwiga’s mother, in particular, was distrusting of Tadeusz’s 

blue eyes. Tadeusz’s mother-in-law was also concerned that his work as  

a member of the Polish underground resistance movement during the 

war would put Jadwiga in danger. When Jadwiga moved into Tadeusz’s 

home in Dar owo, she and her mother were horrified to find grenades in 

the china cabinet and rifles under the bed. They were so terrified that 

they secretly buried the weapons in the backyard. At that time, posses-

sion of weapons was met with immediate execution. 

Jadwiga and Tadeusz lived in a big, beautiful house, and everything 

was ideal (Fig. 2). The only thing that Jadwiga complained about was the 

abundance of mosquitos in Dar owo during the warmer months. Tadeusz 

felt that it was really a pleasure to teach and to live in that little town, 

until something happened. Namely, the Soviet Secret Police opened an 

office in Dar owo. They had a building in the marketplace, and right 

away, all kinds of unpleasant things started to happen. 

 

Fig. 2. Tadeusz and Jadwiga’s home in Dar owo, Poland 

Ryc. 2. Dom w Dar owie, w którym mieszkali Tadeusz i Jadwiga 

While working at the junior college, Tadeusz was very active in gov-

ernment affairs. He and the curator of the local castle, Amelia czy ska, 

founded the local branch of the Polish People’s Party (known as Polskie 
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Stronnictwo Ludowe; PSL) in Dar owo (Walkiewicz, ukowski 2005). 
Tadeusz served as secretary of the national municipal council represent-
ing the PSL (Fig. 3). 

 

Fig. 3. The first city board meeting of 1946 in Dar owo, Poland. Tadeusz Haska is in the  
 first row, third from left 
Ryc. 3. Pierwsze posiedzenie Rady Miasta w 1946 roku w Dar owie. Tadeusz Haska trzeci  
 od lewej w pierwszym rz dzie 

The Communists wanted to liquidate Tadeusz’s political party which 

had pre-war roots. The name of the party members translated to English 

as “people who live in the countryside”. Most of the Polish population 

belonged to that party even though they had nothing to do with farming, 

but they supported the prime minister and his peasant party. Friends 

persuaded Tadeusz to run for Parliament in the January 1947 elections 

that were supposed to be “free and unfettered”. They wanted him to serve 

as their Dar owo district candidate to represent them in Warsaw. Tade-

usz accepted their nomination, but it wasn’t a very sound decision from 

the standpoint of his safety. 

He received warnings that if he did not give up this idea of belonging 

to a party opposing Communism, it would be disastrous for Tadeusz be-
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cause he would be put in prison. But these were just rumors. The threats 

came from the Commandant of the Secret Police. People were coming to 

Tadeusz and telling him to be careful because the Communists would not 

allow him to go to Warsaw. But Tadeusz was young and full of optimism 

and energy, and decided that he could not be scared. Most people he 

knew were on his side, so he disregarded the warnings. But Tadeusz was 

naïve. Soviet troops were occupying Poland! Stalin was alive at the time, 

and the Communist Party would never let the opposition win the elec-

tion. Before elections could take place in January, they arrested Tadeusz 

in December. It was a preventive arrest so that he would not be able to 

campaign for this seat. The Communists figured that no one would vote 

for him if he was in jail. 

On December 7, 1946, Tadeusz was in his office at the junior college 

when two soldiers with rifles arrived and told him that the Commandant 

of the Soviet Secret Police,5 Zdzis aw Kowalski, wanted to talk to him. 

Tadeusz tried not to go, but they said they would be forced to use their 

rifles if necessary. So Tadeusz went. Jadwiga watched in disbelief as she 

saw Tadeusz walking with the two soldiers while she was having her 

hair styled at a salon. 

Tadeusz recalls that the chief of the Soviet Secret Police was very 

pleasant to him at first. The Commandant started an interrogation by 

asking Tadeusz if he owned, before the war, any factories, or if he was  

a capitalist with a large agricultural estate, or whether he was a banker. 

Tadeusz answered him emphatically, “No. I am a working person. I am  

a teacher”. He said: “Then why are you on the other side? Why are you 

not with us? You are one of us. You should be on our side, the side of the 

workers”. What he meant was the side of the Communist Party. Tadeusz 

told him: “I’m not going to change my political affiliation because I want 

Poland to be Poland, not a Soviet republic”. Tadeusz explained that he 

wanted to make sure that Poland would be free from any interference 

from other powers. 

The Commandant became very angry with Tadeusz and told him that 

he was going for dinner to a restaurant with another person sent from 

Warsaw to help get rid of people like Tadeusz. He said that he hoped that 

5 According to the documents in Polish archives Tadeusz Haska was arrested by a rep-

resentative of Polish Department of Security, the Ministry of Public Security, known as 

Urz d Bezpiecze stwa (UB). It was the secret police (intelligence) fighting against anti-

communist movements/organizations and political opponents [see: https://en.wikipedia. 

org/wiki/Ministry_of_Public_Security_(Poland)]. In common understanding UB was closely 

linked to the Soviet Secret Police but in fact it was a Polish governmental agency. When-

ever Tadeusz mentions SSP in the text it should be understood as UB. 
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Tadeusz would change his mind by the time that he would return from 

dinner. As soon as the Commandant left, a soldier entered the room and 

quickly opened a trap door in the floor and pushed Tadeusz down the 

hole into a basement. The soldier informed him that he was instructed to 

let Tadeusz out at midnight when the Commandant would come back. 

Tadeusz found himself in a dark space with water almost up to his 

knees. When he tried to stand up, he could not because there was not 

enough room, so he had to crouch. Tadeusz understood that this was 

done to him to try to get him to change his mind when the Commandant 

returned from dinner. It was so uncomfortable. Tadeusz recalls that he 

wondered how long he would have to remain there. It was 8:00 in the 

evening. At midnight, the door opened, and the soldier took him out of 

the hole and told him that any minute the Commandant would be back. 

He instructed Tadeusz to sit on the chair in the Commandant’s office to 

wait for the Commandant’s return. 

Tadeusz knew that he had been down in the cellar for four hours be-

cause the clock in the city hall tower was chiming very loudly once every 

half hour. It had sounded eight times since he had been down there. 

While waiting, he looked around the office and noticed that a man was 

asleep on a couch. He was snoring, but when he woke up and looked up, 

he said, “Who are YOU?” Tadeusz said, “What about you? Who are you?” 

The man said: “Don’t worry, I’m just a bailiff from a village here. I killed 

two Russian soldiers, but I’m not worried because I’m a member of the 

Communist Party. A Polish woman who owns a farm called me for help 

in stopping some Russian soldiers from stealing a cow from her farm.  

I shot and killed the thieves when they refused to return the cow. Noth-

ing will happen to me because I am a member of the Communist Party. 

Those two soldiers were deserters, so I was justified in killing them for 

stealing the cow. I will just sign a report, and I will be free. I’m just wait-

ing for the Commandant to return”. 

“But you are in trouble. Isn’t your name Haska? I heard someone on 

the phone, and your name was mentioned. The Soviet Secret Police 

Commandant said you are supposed to be transported to the next county 

seat town where there is a prison. You better disappear before morning”. 

Tadeusz was afraid that the man was trying to talk Tadeusz into es-

cape and that while he was escaping, they would try to kill him. He 

thought the man was a provocateur. But then the man fell asleep and 

started snoring again. Tadeusz was scared of doing something foolish. 

But when he heard the tower chime signaling that it was 1:00 am, then 

2:00 am, then 3:00 am, then 4:00 am, he decided that he would not stay 

there any longer. 
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When he was arrested, Tadeusz’s whole world crumbled. He knew 

that leaders of political parties had been arrested and never heard from 

again. Tadeusz’s only chance at survival was to find a way to escape from 

the jail. He was thinking about his cousin Józef Otto Rogatty, two years 

younger than him, who had escaped prison the previous year. He had 

been studying at the missionary seminary6 in Ninino near Oborniki 

(north of Pozna )7 at the start of the war when he was promptly taken as 

a prisoner of war by the Nazis. After multiple unsuccessful attempts, he 

finally escaped on January 14, 1945, and became a priest a few years 

later. 

The room Tadeusz was in was on the ground floor. When he looked 

out the window, he noticed that the surrounding buildings were three 

stories high and built together in a square. Tadeusz observed that, when 

the guard left periodically, he was usually gone for about ten to fifteen 

minutes. That would be Tadeusz’s chance to escape. 

Tadeusz opened the window where there was no bar blocking it, and 

this surprised him. He jumped out the window, down to the ground. 

Tadeusz noticed that there was a courtyard, but from both sides, there 

was a square building with no way to get out. He looked up, and could 

not believe that nobody was shooting at him. Tadeusz expected that the 

Secret Soviet Police would start shooting at him, but nothing happened. 

The walls were flat with nothing to hold on to. He looked around and saw 

a gutter for him to climb along the pipeline to the roof. The gutters were 

on an overhang, and it seemed impossible to get over the edge, but some-

how, Tadeusz found something on the roof steady enough to hold on to 

that allowed him to swing himself up onto it. It was very difficult to 

make it up to the roof, but Tadeusz was pretty strong and young. Once on 

the roof, he had to figure out how to get down. Tadeusz decided that it 

was worth the risk to climb down the street side of the building by hold-

ing on to the gutters. From one roof, he jumped to a lower roof to the 

ground. Somehow, he survived and was able to leave the area without 

being discovered. 

Tadeusz knew that he did not have much time to see his wife 

Jadwiga, because their home would soon be under observation for sure. 

Jadwiga had recently learned that she was expecting their first child. 

She gave Tadeusz a loaf of bread and money and instructed him to dis-

appear. He kept that piece of bread his entire life. It is hard as a rock, 

6 The missionary seminar existed in Ninino in the years 1931–1939 [https://pl.wiki 

pedia.org/wiki/Stowarzyszenie_Misji_Afryka%C5%84skich] and it was organized by the 

Society of African Missions [https://sma.ie/about-us/]. 
7 https://pl.wikipedia.org/wiki/Ninino 
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but Tadeusz’s family has saved it all these years as a reminder of the 

couple’s love for each other. 

Because Jadwiga had previously seen Tadeusz walking in the compa-

ny of the two soldiers while she was in the hair salon, she had some 

warning that something bad was about to happen. She gave Tadeusz the 

address of her parents in Warsaw. After stopping by a friend’s house to 

get additional money and clothing in order to be able to leave the country 

quickly, Tadeusz headed for the railroad station. But then he realized 

that he would not be able to buy a ticket in Dar owo because the Soviet 

Secret Police had probably already notified the local railroad station. So 

Tadeusz instead walked along the tracks to the next town, and went to 

the president of the county capital of the Polish Peasant Party. The pres-

ident gave him shelter, and sent his daughter to the station to buy  

a ticket for Warsaw. She came back with the ticket and gave it to Tade-

usz. He went back to the station, but did not enter in the usual way. 

Tadeusz let the train pass and jumped on it from the other side where 

nobody would see him enter and traveled to Warsaw. 

When Tadeusz had been held in the Soviet jail in Dar owo, the soldier 

had taken away all of his identification documents and money. Every-

where in the autumn of 1946, they were looking for young people Tade-

usz’s age who were supposed to be registered in the military district of-

fice for a draft. Everyone who registered received a yellow piece of paper 

as evidence of registration. That meant that the person would be drafted 

at some time in the future. Young people were stopped all the time and 

asked to show the yellow paper; then they would be allowed to go free. 

But Tadeusz no longer had this paper since the police took it from him. 

While on the train to Warsaw, he worried that a military patrol would 

enter his compartment and ask for the yellow piece of paper. Tadeusz 

thought that the nervous look on his face would give him away. 

Sitting on the train in terrible fear of being discovered without identi-

fication, Tadeusz happened to notice that someone in his train compart-

ment was reading a newspaper and looking at him from time to time. For 

some unknown reason, the stranger walked right up to Tadeusz and qui-

etly handed him a yellow piece of identification paper. He told him: 

“Memorize this name and place and date of birth”. Then he left the com-

partment. 

Tadeusz looked at the yellow paper, memorized the information, and 

wondered what had just happened. He followed the man’s instructions 

and put the yellow paper in his pocket. About fifteen minutes later,  

a military patrol entered Tadeusz’s train compartment and asked for him 

to show his yellow piece of paper. He was safe. Later on, Tadeusz was 
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thinking about this encounter, and decided that the man who gave him 

the yellow paper must have been someone from the Polish underground, 

helping people trying to avoid service in the Soviet-occupied army. Tade-

usz referred to this man as his guardian angel. 

While on the train, Tadeusz was thinking about how quickly his life 

had changed. He had married Jadwiga on September 18, 1946, and they 

were living a wonderful life together. Then on December 7, he was  

arrested. When the train arrived in Warsaw, Tadeusz went to Jadwiga’s 

parents’ home. When he arrived there and knocked on the door, his 

mother-in-law, W adys awa Borzym Trzebi ska fainted at the sight of 

him! Her husband, Jan, helped her. 

Tadeusz said: “What happened?”. 

He answered: “Just a few minutes ago, there were members of the 

Soviet Secret Police here asking for you. She was so overwhelmed that 

she fainted”. The Soviet Secret Police had searched the home. To Tade-

usz’s great surprise and disgust, they had taken a jar containing his  

appendix! 

Tadeusz had always believed that it was important to have all of his 

body parts with him when he died. His appendix had been removed dur-

ing the war, without any anesthesia. It seems strange now, but Tadeusz 

had kept his appendix in preservative in a jar. When the Soviet Secret 

Police were searching the house and demanded alcohol from his in-laws, 

they could not stop the man from drinking from the jar with Tadeusz’s 

appendix! 

For Tadeusz, it was clear that it was not safe for him to stay there. 

He went to Jadwiga’s uncle’s home in a suburb of Warsaw. It was there 

that Tadeusz learned that all the other members of his party’s leadership 

in Dar owo had been arrested, just as he was. But they were not so for-

tunate as to escape. Tadeusz kept thinking about how he was unjustly 

arrested. He had had the best intentions. As a teacher of junior college, 

he could not figure out why this was so offensive to the Communist Party 

that they felt it was necessary to stop him from doing this. He was active 

in political circles. The prime minister of Poland’s government-in-exile in 

London during the war, Stanis aw Miko ajczyk, returned to Poland in 

1946 to become deputy premier and re-build his political party, to which 

a number of Poles belonged: Polskie Stronnictwo Ludowe which was the 

Polish Peasant Party. This party was traditional, democratic, and 

against the Communist Party. The goal was to keep Poland as Poland,  

a free Poland without any connections to the Soviet Union. Now that 

Miko ajczyk was back in Poland, the Polish people felt it was time to have 

an election and see who was in favor of keeping Poland independent.  
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Stalin had agreed with Churchill and Roosevelt that Poland was sup-

posed to have an elected government. 

Tadeusz decided to go to meet with government officials to challenge 

his arrest. He was naïve, but at that time, he felt it was his duty to try to 

show the local powers of the Communist Party that Poland still had  

a democratic system in the western sense. Tadeusz went to the national 

council government organization that was a substitute of a Parliament 

because it was before elections to Parliament. He went to the legal advi-

sor to the national council and explained to him that he was a member of 

the local municipal council in Dar owo. After listening to his story, the 

legal advisor instructed him to move abroad. The legal advisor tried to 

persuade Tadeusz that one person was unable to oppose the powers of 

the Communists, and advised him that this would be the only way for 

him to survive. 

Tadeusz still did not believe that leaving the country was the right 

thing to do, so he went to the office of the Polish Peasant Party where 

Stanis aw Miko ajczyk, the prime minister, was the leader. He was at  

a conference, but his second-in-command, Stefan Korbo ski, received 

Tadeusz. Tadeusz asked him: “What should I do? I was arrested on De-

cember 7, 1946. My people in Dar owo told me that I was supposed to be 

the Peasant Party candidate in January 1947. When I was supposed to 

have a campaign meeting, I was always denied. Where’s the freedom? 

What’s going on?”. 

Korbo ski said: “Everything’s fine with the party here in Warsaw. 

Things are going so well here that we now even have our own newspaper”. 

Tadeusz told him: “In the capital, you are treated like a legitimate po-

litical party, but in the provinces, we are thrown in jail. What protection 

do you have? I thought you would have power to help me?”. 

He answered: “Yes, we have this power. There must be some kind of 

misunderstanding”. 

Tadeusz responded: “The rest of the members of my party’s leader-

ship in Dar owo were all arrested. I was the lucky one – the only one who 

escaped. The rest were not lucky. They are all still in jail”. 

Korbo ski told Tadeusz: “Go see the prosecutor in Dar owo and tell 

him that you saw me, and he will let you go because it’s of course illegal 

to arrest you”. 

But Tadeusz told him: “I will not return there. I know that they will 

not listen. They don’t know you or the prime minister and disregard the 

existence of our party because they are Communists. They have started  

a dictatorship of Communism. You here in Warsaw don’t feel it. But in 

the provinces, it’s destructive”. 
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Korbo ski said: “Change your name and go to some other province 

like Siberia or Eastern Poland”. 

Tadeusz said: “I am a married man, my wife is expecting a baby, and 

I cannot do such a thing. I lived like a rabbit during the German occupa-

tion for five-and-a-half years, and I do not want to do that again. I am  

in Poland, and I want Poland to be governed by a Polish democratic  

government”. 

He said: “We want this too, but the road is long to achieve it. How 

about you join guerilla warfare?”. 

Tadeusz said: “I’ve had enough of that during the German occupation. 

Do you expect me to shoot other Poles just because they are red, and I am 

not red? No, I don’t want to repeat what happened in Spain where Span-

ish were killing each other”. 

After talking with him some more, he eventually told Tadeusz that 

the only thing to do to survive is simply leave the country. There was no 

other way. 

After receiving this disappointing news, Tadeusz went to see Jadwiga. 

He could not go to her parents’ home since the Secret Police had looked for 

him there. Instead, he went to her uncle’s home in Warsaw, where she 

later joined him. They tried to take their minds off their desperate situa-

tion by going to the theater. The show was called The Devil’s Disciple. 

 

Fig. 4. Jadwiga and Tadeusz Haska, soon after they were re-united 

Ryc. 4. Jadwiga i Tadeusz Haska wkrótce po ponownym spotkaniu 
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After that, they boarded a train to the Czechoslovakia border. It was 

so hard for Tadeusz to leave behind his pregnant wife, but Jadwiga told 

him that it was their only option. He promised to come back and get her 

as soon as he could, which he did, nine months later. 

Tadeusz’s former Dar owo colleague, Amelia czy ska (2017: 35), 

wrote in her diary8 that a few months after his escape, she heard that he 

had reached Gda sk where he made friends with a group who were mak-

ing fishing nets before executing his escape out of Poland. Once back in 

Sweden, Tadeusz wrote a letter to Amelia, who later became a successful 

writer, letting her know that he and Jadwiga were safe (Fig. 4). Tadeusz 

continued to write to Amelia every couple of years until her death at age 

100 in 1993. 

Tadeusz and Jadwiga’s infant son, Marek, died a few days after his 

birth in Poland. After spending a few years in Sweden, Tadeusz and 

Jadwiga emigrated to the United States (Tarnowski 2009: 145), where 

their daughter, Christine was born. Tadeusz taught at the Army Lan-

guage School, later known as the Defense Language Institute, in Monte-

rey, California for thirty-five years. After the war, Tadeusz’s brother An-

toni became a well-known artist in Kraków, Poland. 

Tadeusz Leon Haska w Dar owie, Polska,  
w latach 1945–1946 
 

Mój dziadek Tadeusz Leon Haska (Ryc. 1) urodzi  si  w Miko aj-

kach ko o Nowego Miasta Lubawskiego, w Polsce w 1919 roku. Osieroco-

ny w wieku 13 lat wraz z 12-letnim bratem Antonim Alojzm mieszka   

w jednopokojowym mieszkaniu w Chodzie y. Tam te  ucz szcza  do szko y. 

Aby mie  za co y , Tadeusz udziela  korepetycji i pisa  artyku y dla lo-

kalnej gazety. Antoni za  sprzedawa  swoje dzie a, w tym malowane 

pocztówki, rze by i rze by w drewnie. Uda o im si  uko czy  liceum.  

W tych trudnych czasach musieli spali  wszystkie meble w swoim miesz-

kaniu, aby si  ogrza . Gdy Tadeusz rozpocz  drugi rok studiów na Uni-

wersytecie Pozna skim, obecnie Uniwersytecie im. Adama Mickiewicza 

w Poznaniu, a Antoni przygotowywa  si  do wst pienia na akademi  

8 The Kórnik Library of Polish Academy of Sciences keeps the original diary of Amelia 

czy ska (Sroka 2017). 
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sztuk pi knych, wybuch a II wojna wiatowa. Podczas wojny Antoni zo-

sta  przymusowo wys any do pracy przez Arbeitsamt. Przez pierwsze trzy 

lata pracowa  jako robotnik rolny we wsi Swoboda w rodkowej Polsce. 

Pó niej wys ano go do maj tku Witów na po udniu Polski. Tadeusz by  

cz onkiem polskiego podziemnego ruchu oporu. Prze y  wojn  mi dzy 

innymi dzi ki znajomo ci wielu j zyków. Jak pisze w How Languages 

Saved Me: A Polish Story of Survival (Haska, Naumann 2019), t umaczy  

niemieckie gazety dla rolników i instrukcje pracy dla francuskich je ców 

wojennych. Czasem nawet podszywa  si  pod Niemców (np. ucieczka  

z Warmii do Poznania w 1940 – Haska, Naumann 2019: 46–47). 
Po wojnie Tadeusz wróci  do Poznania. Mia  nadziej , e b dzie kon-

tynuowa  nauk , ale szko a by a w trakcie reorganizacji. Uda  si  wi c do 
polskiej organizacji Western Union i poprosi  o prac  na tzw. Ziemiach 
Odzyskanych. Polska obj a Ziemie Zachodnie, a granic  kraju stanowi a 
Odra. Tadeusz otrzyma  skierowanie do miasta Derlow (obecnie Dar o-
wo). Opisa  je jako pi kne, niezniszczone wskutek dzia a  wojennych, 
ma e miasteczko nad Morzem Ba tyckim. Ludno  polska zacz a je za-
siedla , natomiast Niemcy wyje d a  za Odr . 

Miasteczko najpierw stanowi o centrum niemieckiego dowództwa. 
Kiedy Niemcy opu cili je, wkroczy a armia radziecka i Derlow sta o si  
siedzib  radzieckiego genera a. Tadeusz zameldowa  si  u burmistrza 
Stanis awa Dulewicza, przymusowo wys anego przez Niemców do Dar o-
wa do pracy. Po wyzwoleniu miasta zosta  jego burmistrzem. Jako profe-
sor marzy  o zorganizowaniu w tym mie cie polskiej szko y redniej. Du-
lewicz by  równie  dyrektorem gimnazjum. Zaproponowa  Tadeuszowi 
dwie posady. W ci gu dnia Tadeusz pomaga  przywróci  polsk  admini-
stracj  w mie cie. Organizowa  niektóre wesela, w tym lub obecnej 
mieszkanki Dar owa Brygidy Jerzewskiej. By  sekretarzem sze ciooso-
bowego zarz du miasta, do którego nale eli: burmistrz Stanis aw Dule-
wicz, Piotr Paul, Anna Villier, Zbigniew Czarnecki i Ludwik Dzierzanow-
ski. Tadeusz pracowa  tak e w komisji, której zadaniem by a zmiana 
niemieckich nazw ulic na polskie. Wieczorami Tadeusz naucza  j zyka 
polskiego i literatury, j zyków aci skiego i francuskiego. Pracowa  po 
12–14 godzin, ale mimo to by  bardzo szcz liwy. Do gimnazjum ucz sz-
czali m odzi ludzie, którzy przez ponad pi  lat pozbawieni byli mo liwo-
ci kszta cenia. Bardzo chcieli si  uczy , a dla Tadeusza nauczanie ich 

by o prawdziw  przyjemno ci . 
W czasie pracy w szkole w Dar owie Tadeusz pozna  swoj  przysz  

on  Jadwig . Jej rodzice nazwali j  imieniem w. Jadwigi l skiej 
(1178/80–1243) i Królowej Jadwigi (1373/4–1399). Tadeusz po raz pierw-
szy zobaczy  Jadwig  na koncercie, na którym by a ze swoj  przyjació k  
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Dank . By a to mi o  od pierwszego wejrzenia. Podczas przerwy Tade-

usz podszed  do Jadwigi i si  przedstawi . Dwa dni pó niej wys a  jej ró e 

i list z pro b  o spotkanie. W Polsce we wrze niu 1945 roku zdobycie 

kwiatów by o prawie niemo liwe, wywar  wi c na swojej wybrance ogrom-

ne wra enie. W przysz o ci, kiedy Tadeusz przynosi  kwiaty Jadwidze 

podczas ich ma e stwa, trwaj cego 57 lat, to zawsze wywo ywa  u miech 

na jej twarzy. 

Tadeusz o wiadczy  si  na mo cie nad Wieprz  w wietle ksi yca. 

Obieca  Jadwidze, e zawsze b dzie mia a wszystko, czego b dzie potrze-

bowa . Ich lub odby  si  18 wrze nia 1946 roku. By  skromny i cichy. 

Jedynym cz onkiem rodziny, który w nim uczestniczy , by  brat Tadeusza 

Antoni. Oficjalnymi wiadkami byli Stefania Danuta Grunwald, urz d-

niczka zamieszka a w Dar owie przy ul. Cegielnianej 24, oraz Jan Kocza-

rowski, urz dnik mieszkaj cy w Dar owie przy ul. Morskiej 69. Cho  Ta-

deusz by  nauczycielem, to rodzice Jadwigi przez pewien czas byli do 

niego sceptyczni nastawieni. Pochodzili z Warszawy, z du ego miasta  

i postrzegali go jako ch opa ze wsi. Mieli nawet uprzedzenia co do koloru 

jego oczu. Mieszka cy miast bowiem, tak jak rodzice Jadwigi, cz ciej 

mieli br zowy kolor oczy, a Polacy zamieszkuj cy wie  zazwyczaj niebie-

ski. W szczególno ci matka Jadwigi nie ufa a b kitnym oczom Tadeusza. 

Te ciowa martwi a si  równie  o to, e dzia aj c w ruchu oporu podczas 

wojny, nara a  Jadwig  na niebezpiecze stwo. Jadwiga po wprowadzeniu 

si  do domu Tadeusza w Dar owie razem ze swoj  matk  znalaz y grana-

ty w szafce na porcelan  i karabiny pod ó kiem. By y tak przera one, e 

potajemnie zakopa y bro  na podwórku. Posiadanie broni by o wówczas 

nielegalne i wi za o si  z natychmiastow  egzekucj . 

Jadwiga i Tadeusz mieszkali w du ym, pi knym domu i wszystko by-

o idealne (Ryc. 2). Jedynym utrapieniem Jadwigi by y dokuczliwe koma-

ry w cieplejszych miesi cach. Tadeusz przeczuwa , e nauczanie i ycie  

w tym ma ym miasteczku, ta prawdziwa przyjemno , mog  si  sko czy , 

czu , e co  niedobrego si  wydarzy. Mianowicie, wraz z otwarciem przez 

Urz d Bezpiecze stwa biura w Dar owie w budynku przy rynku zacz y 

si  dzia  ró nego rodzaju nieprzyjemne rzeczy. 

Podczas pracy w gimnazjum Tadeusz by  bardzo aktywny politycznie. 

On i kustosz tutejszego zamku, Amelia czy ska, za o yli oddzia  Pol-

skiego Stronnictwa Ludowego (PSL) (Walkiewicz, ukowski 2005). Tade-

usz pe ni  funkcj  sekretarza miejskiej rady narodowej, reprezentuj c 

PSL (Ryc. 3). Komuni ci chcieli zlikwidowa  t  parti . Znaczna cz  Po-

laków nale a a do PSL, cho  nie mieli nic wspólnego z rolnictwem. Przy-

jaciele namówili Tadeusza na kandydowanie do sejmu w wyborach  

w styczniu 1947 roku. Wybory mia y by  „wolne i demokratyczne”. Chcieli, 
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aby reprezentowa  ich w Warszawie. Tadeusz przyj  nominacj . Nie by a 

to jednak rozs dna decyzja, bior c pod uwag  bezpiecze stwo. Otrzymy-

wa  ostrze enia, e je li nie zrezygnuje z przynale no ci do partii prze-

ciwnej komunizmowi, to b dzie to katastrofalne dla niego, gro ono mu 

wi zieniem. Ale to by y tylko plotki. Gro by pochodzi y od komendanta 

tajnej policji. Ludzie przychodzili do Tadeusza i prosili, by by  ostro ny. 

Tadeusz by  m ody, pe en optymizmu i energii. Zdecydowa , e nie mo e 

ba  si  komendanta. Wi kszo  ludzi, których zna , by a po jego stronie, 

wi c zlekcewa y  ostrze enia. 

Tadeusz by  naiwny. Wojska radzieckie okupowa y Polsk , a partia 

komunistyczna nigdy nie pozwoli opozycji wygra  wyborów. Aresztowali 

Tadeusza jeszcze w grudniu, przed wyborami styczniowymi. By o to pre-

wencyjne aresztowanie uniemo liwiaj ce mu walk  o miejsce pos a. Ko-

muni ci doszli do wniosku, e nikt nie zag osuje na niego, gdy b dzie  

w wi zieniu. 7 grudnia 1946 roku Tadeusz pracowa  w swoim biurze  

w gimnazjum. Komendant Urz du Bezpiecze stwa przys a  po niego 

dwóch o nierzy z karabinami. Tadeusz nie chcia  z nimi jecha , ale po-

wiedziano, e w razie odmowy b d  zmuszeni u y  si y. Wi c poszed . 

Szef polskiej tajnej policji pocz tkowo by  dla Tadeusza bardzo mi y. 

Komendant rozpocz  przes uchanie. Pyta  o to, czy przed wojn  by  w a-

cicielem jaki  fabryk, czy by  kapitalist  z du ym maj tkiem rolnym czy 

mo e bankierem. Tadeusz odpowiedzia  stanowczo: „Nie. Jestem osob  

pracuj c . Jestem nauczycielem”. Komendant spyta : „Wi c dlaczego jeste  

po drugiej stronie? Dlaczego nie jeste  z nami? Jeste  jednym z nas. Po-

winiene  by  po naszej stronie, po stronie robotników”. Mia  na my li par-

ti  komunistyczn . Mój dziadek odpowiedzia : „Nie zamierzam zmienia  

mojej przynale no ci politycznej, poniewa  chc , aby Polska by a Polsk , 

a nie republik  sowieck ”. Wyja ni  te , e chce si  upewni , e Polska b -

dzie wolna od wszelkich ingerencji innych mocarstw. Komendant bardzo 

si  rozgniewa . Poinformowa , e udaje si  na obiad do restauracji z pew-

n  osob  przys an  z Warszawy, która ma pomóc pozby  si  ludzi takich, 

jak mój dziadek. Mia  nadziej , e Tadeusz zmieni zdanie, zanim on wróci 

z restauracji. Natychmiast po wyj ciu komendanta do pokoju wszed  o -

nierz, otworzy  klap  w pod odze i popchn  Tadeusza do piwnicy. Poin-

formowa , e otrzyma  polecenie wypuszczenia dziadka o pó nocy, kiedy 

wróci komendant. 

Tadeusz znalaz  si  w ciemno ci w wodzie prawie po kolana. Kiedy 

próbowa  wsta , nie móg , bo nie by o wystarczaj co miejsca. Musia  kuc-

n . Zrozumia , e zrobiono tak po to, aby zmusi  go do zmiany zdania. 

Pó niej wspomina , e zastanawia  si , jak d ugo pozostanie w piwnicy.  

O pó nocy drzwi si  otworzy y. o nierz wyci gn  go z dziury, kaza  



 Tadeusz Leon Haska in Dar owo, Poland, 1945–1946 231 

usi  na krze le w biurze i czeka  na komendanta, który w ka dej chwili 

mo e wróci . 

Tadeusz wiedzia , e przebywa  w piwnicy od czterech godzin, ponie-

wa  s ysza  bicie zegara na wie y ratusza. Rozejrza  si  po biurze i za-

uwa y , e jaki  m czyzna pi na kanapie i chrapie. Kiedy si  obudzi   

i podniós  wzrok, zapyta : „Kim jeste ?”. Tadeusz odpowiedzia  pytaniem: 

„A ty? Kim jeste ?”. M czyzna rzek : „Nie martw si , jestem tylko ch o-

pem z wioski. Zabi em dwóch rosyjskich o nierzy, ale nie martwi  si , 

poniewa  jestem cz onkiem partii komunistycznej. Polka, która jest w a-

cicielem farmy, wezwa a mnie do pomocy w powstrzymaniu rosyjskich 

o nierzy przed kradzie  krowy z jej gospodarstwa. Zastrzeli em z o-

dziei, gdy odmówili zwrotu krowy. Nic mi si  nie stanie, poniewa  jestem 

cz onkiem partii komunistycznej. Ci dwaj o nierze byli dezerterami, wi c 

s usznie zabi em ich za kradzie . Podpisz  tylko raport i b d  wolny. 

Czekam tylko na powrót komendanta. Ale ty masz k opoty. Czy twoje 

nazwisko to Haska? S ysza em jak komendant Urz du Bezpiecze stwa 

powiedzia  przez telefon, e masz zosta  przetransportowany do innej 

miejscowo ci, w której znajduje si  wi zienie. Lepiej zniknij przed ranem”. 

Tadeusz ba  si , e m czyzna chce namówi  go do ucieczki i je li si  

zgodzi, to b d  próbowa  go zabi . My la , e to prowokator. Pó niej m -

czyzna zasn  i znów zacz  chrapa . Tadeusz ba  si  zrobi  co  nieroz-

s dnego, ale kiedy us ysza  dzwon z wie y bij cy pierwsz  godzin  w no-

cy, potem drug , potem trzeci , a potem czwart , postanowi , e musi 

ucieka . Wiedzia  o przywódcach partii, którzy zostali aresztowani i nikt 

wi cej o nich nie s ysza . Jedyn  szans  na przetrwanie by o znalezienie 

sposobu na ucieczk  z wi zienia. My la  o swoim o dwa lata m odszym 

kuzynie Józefie Otto Rogatty, który uciek  z wi zienia rok wcze niej. 

Studiowa  we wsi Ninino na pó noc od Poznania, gdzie przed wojn  znaj-

dowa o si  Ma e Seminarium Misji Afryka skich. Na pocz tku wojny 

nazi ci go aresztowali. Po wielu nieudanych próbach uciek  14 stycznia 

1945 roku. A kilka lat pó niej zosta  ksi dzem. 

Pokój, w którym przebywa  Tadeusz, znajdowa  si  na parterze. Kiedy 

wyjrza  przez okno, zauwa y , e otaczaj ce budynki maj  trzy pi tra i s  

po czone w kwadrat. Zauwa y  te , e stra nik co jaki  czas znika na 

oko o 10–15 minut. To by a jego szansa na ucieczk . 

Tadeusz przez niezablokowane okno wydosta  si  na dziedziniec,  

z którego nie by o wyj cia. Podniós  wzrok i nie móg  uwierzy , e nikt nie 

strzela  do niego. ciany by y p askie i nie mia  si  czego trzyma . Rozej-

rza  si  i zobaczy  rur  spustow  rynny, po której móg  wspi  si  na 

dach. By  do  silny i m ody. Kiedy znalaz  si  na dachu, musia  wymy-

li , jak z niego zej . Uzna , e warto zaryzykowa  zej cie od strony uli-
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cy, trzymaj c si  rynien. Skoczy  na ni szy dach, a z niego na ziemi . 

Uda o mu si  uciec. Wiedzia , e nie mia  du o czasu na spotkanie z on  

Jadwig , poniewa  ich dom na pewno wkrótce b dzie obserwowany. 

Krótko przed aresztowaniem dowiedzieli si , e Jadwiga spodziewa si  

ich pierwszego dziecka. Poniewa  Jadwiga, b d c w salonie fryzjerskim, 

widzia a Tadeusza id cego w towarzystwie dwóch o nierzy, wiedzia a, e 

mo e wydarzy  si  co  z ego. Gdy uciekaj c z wi zienia Tadeusz wst pi  

do domu, Jadwiga da a mu bochenek chleba i pieni dze oraz kaza a ucie-

ka . Przechowywa  ten kawa ek chleba przez ca e swoje ycie. Twardy jak 

ska a by  przypomnieniem ich mi o ci. Poda a te  Tadeuszowi adres swo-

ich rodziców w Warszawie. Zatrzyma  si  na chwil  w domu przyjaciela, 

gdy  próbowa  zdoby  dodatkowe pieni dze i ubrania, by móc szybko 

opu ci  kraj. W ko cu Tadeusz uda  si  na dworzec kolejowy. Wiedzia , e 

nie b dzie móg  kupi  biletu w Dar owie, poniewa  tajna policja prawdo-

podobnie ju  powiadomi a lokalny dworzec kolejowy. Poszed  wi c do s -

siedniego miasta. Tam spotka  si  z szefem lokalnej PSL, który zapewni  

mu schronienie. Pos a  on swoj  córk  na dworzec po bilet do Warszawy. 

Tadeusz maj c bilet, wróci  na stacj . Wskoczy  do poci gu z drugiej stro-

ny stacji, gdzie nikt go nie móg  zobaczy . 

Kiedy Tadeusz by  przetrzymywany przez Urz d Bezpiecze stwa  

w Dar owie, o nierz zabra  mu wszystkie dokumenty to samo ci i pie-

ni dze. Jad c poci giem do Warszawy, obawia  si , e do przedzia u wej-

dzie patrol wojskowy i poprosi o dokumenty. My la , e zdenerwowanie 

wida  na jego twarzy i to go zdradzi. Zauwa y , e kto  w jego przedziale 

czyta gazet  i od czasu do czasu na niego spogl da. Nieznajomy podszed  

do Tadeusza i ukradkiem wr czy  mu ó t  kart  identyfikacyjn . Powie-

dzia : „Zapami taj to imi , miejsce i dat  urodzenia”. Potem opu ci  prze-

dzia . 

Tadeusz spojrza  na ó ty papier, zapami ta  informacje i zastanawia  

si , co si  w a ciwie wydarzy o. Post powa  zgodnie z instrukcjami m -

czyzny. Schowa  ó ty dokument do kieszeni. Oko o pi tna cie minut 

pó niej patrol wojskowy wszed  do przedzia u Tadeusza i poprosi  o poka-

zanie ó tej karty. Tadeusz by  bezpieczny. My la  pó niej o tym spotka-

niu i uzna , e cz owiek, który da  mu dokument, musia  by  kim  z pol-

skiego podziemia, kim  pomagaj cym ludziom próbuj cym unikn  

k opotów w kraju okupowanym przez ZSRR. Tadeusz nazwa  tego cz o-

wieka swoim anio em stró em. 

Podczas podró y zastanawia  si , jak szybko zmieni o si  jego ycie. 

O eni  si  z Jadwig  18 wrze nia 1946 roku. I wiedli razem cudowne y-

cie. Nast pnie 7 grudnia zosta  aresztowany. Po przyje dzie do Warszawy 

Tadeusz uda  si  do domu rodziców Jadwigi. Drzwi do mieszkania otwo-
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rzy a te ciowa W adys awa Borzym Trzebi ska, która zemdla a na jego 

widok! Pomóg  jej m  Jan. Kiedy kobieta odzyska a przytomno , Tade-

usz zapyta : „Co si  sta o?”. Po chwili odpowiedzia a: „Jeszcze kilka minut 

temu byli tutaj agenci Urz du Bezpiecze stwa i przeszukiwali dom.”. Ku 

wielkiemu zdziwieniu Tadeusza zabrali s oik z jego wyrostkiem robacz-

kowym! Usuni to mu wyrostek robaczkowy podczas wojny bez znieczule-

nia. Teraz wydaje si  to dziwne, ale Tadeusz trzyma  go w konserwancie 

w s oiku. Tajna policja przeszukiwa a dom i za da a alkoholu od jego 

te ciów. Zauwa yli ten s oik i zacz li z niego pi . 

Dla Tadeusza sta o si  oczywiste, e pobyt w tym domu nie jest bez-

pieczny. Poszed  wi c do domu wujka Jadwigi na przedmie ciach War-

szawy. Tam dowiedzia  si , e wszyscy inni cz onkowie jego partii w Dar-

owie zostali aresztowani. Ale nie mieli tyle szcz cia, by uciec. 

Wci  my la  o tym, jak zosta  niesprawiedliwie aresztowany. Mia  

najlepsze intencje. Jako nauczyciel gimnazjum nie móg  zrozumie , dla-

czego partia komunistyczna chcia a zniszczy  parti  polityczn , do której 

nale a . Premier polskiego rz du na uchod stwie w Londynie Stanis aw 

Miko ajczyk powróci  do Polski w 1946 roku, aby zosta  wicepremierem  

i odbudowa  parti  polityczn , do której nale a a znaczna cz  Polaków 

– Polskie Stronnictwo Ludowe. Ta partia by a zwi zana z polsk  trady-

cj , by a demokratyczna i w opozycji do partii komunistycznej. Celem 

by o utrzymanie Polski jako kraju wolnego, bez powi za  ze Zwi zkiem 

Radzieckim. Teraz, kiedy Miko ajczyk wróci  do kraju, Polacy poczuli, e 

nadszed  czas, aby dokona  wyborów i przekona  si , kto jest za utrzy-

maniem niezale no ci Polski. Stalin zgodzi  si  z Churchillem i Roosevel-

tem, e Polska powinna mie  demokratycznie wybrany rz d. 

Tadeusz postanowi  spotka  si  z urz dnikami pa stwowymi, aby za-

protestowa  przeciw aresztowaniu. By  naiwny, ale w tamtym czasie czu , 

e jego obowi zkiem jest próba pokazania lokalnym w adzom partii ko-

munistycznej, e Polska nadal ma system demokratyczny w sensie za-

chodnim. Po wys uchaniu jego historii radca prawny zaleci  mu wyjazd  

za granic . Próbowa  przekona  Tadeusza, e jedna osoba nie jest w sta-

nie sprzeciwi  si  w adzy komunistów i e jest to jedyny sposób na prze-

trwanie. 

Tadeusz nadal nie wierzy  w s uszno  opuszczenia kraju, wi c uda  

si  do biura PSL, którym kierowa  premier Stanis aw Miko ajczyk. Miko-

ajczyk by  na konferencji, ale jego zast pca Stefan Korbo ski przyj  

Tadeusza. Tadeusz zapyta : „Co powinienem zrobi ? Zosta em areszto-

wany 7 grudnia 1946 roku. Mieszka cy w Dar owie powiedzieli mi, e 

mam by  kandydatem PSL w wyborach w styczniu 1947 roku. Nie pozwa-

lano mi organizowa  kampanii wyborczej. Gdzie jest wolno ? Co si  dzie-



234 Stefanie Naumann 

je?”. Korbo ski odpowiedzia : „Wszystko jest w porz dku z parti  tutaj  

w Warszawie. Tutaj wszystko idzie tak dobrze, e teraz mamy nawet 

w asn  gazet .”. Tadeusz powiedzia : „W stolicy jeste my traktowany jak 

legalna partia polityczna, ale na prowincji jeste my wtr cani do wi zie-

nia. My la em, e b dziesz w stanie mi pomóc?”. Odpowiedzia : „Tak, 

mamy takie mo liwo ci. Musia o to by  jakie  nieporozumienie.”. Tade-

usz odpowiedzia : „Reszta cz onków kierownictwa mojej partii w Dar owie 

zosta a aresztowana. By em szcz ciarzem – jedynym, który uciek . Resz-

ta nie mia a szcz cia. Wszyscy nadal s  w wi zieniu.”. Korbo ski rzek : 

„Id  do prokuratora w Dar owie i powiedz mu, e ze mn  rozmawia e ,  

a on pozwoli ci odej , bo oczywi cie aresztowanie ciebie jest nielegalne.”. 

Ale Tadeusz odpowiedzia : „Nie wróc  tam. Wiem, e nie b d  s ucha . 

Nie znaj  ciebie ani premiera i lekcewa  istnienie naszej partii, ponie-

wa  s  komunistami. Wprowadzaj  dyktatur  komunizmu. Wy jeste cie 

tutaj, w Warszawie. Ale na prowincji jest destrukcyjnie.”. Korbo ski na 

to: „Zmie  swoje nazwisko i wyjed  do innej cz ci kraju, na przyk ad do 

Polski Wschodniej.”. Tadeusz powiedzia : „Jestem onaty, moja ona spo-

dziewa si  dziecka i nie mog  tego zrobi . y em w strachu podczas oku-

pacji niemieckiej przez pi  i pó  roku i nie chc  tego wi cej robi . Jestem 

w Polsce i chc , aby Polsk  rz dzi  polski demokratyczny rz d.”. Korbo -

ski odrzek : „My te  tego chcemy, ale droga jest d uga, aby to osi gn .  

A mo e przy czysz si  do partyzantki?”. Tadeusz powiedzia : „Mia em 

do  tego podczas okupacji niemieckiej. Czy spodziewasz si , e b d  

strzela  do innych Polaków tylko dlatego, e s  czerwoni, a ja nie jestem 

czerwony? Nie, nie chc  powtarza  tego, co sta o si  w Hiszpanii, gdzie 

Hiszpanie si  nawzajem zabijali”. Korbo ski ostatecznie powiedzia  Ta-

deuszowi, e jedyne co mo na zrobi , aby prze y , to po prostu opu ci  

kraj. Nie by o innego wyj cia. 

Tadeusz by  rozczarowany. Nie móg  wróci  do domu rodziców ony, 

poniewa  szuka a go tam tajna policja. Poszed  wi c do domu wuja  

w Warszawie, gdzie pó niej do czy a do niego Jadwiga. Próbuj c ode-

rwa  si  od rozpaczliwej sytuacji, wybrali si  do teatru na The Devil’s 

Disciple („Ucze  diab a”). 

Tadeusz postanowi  uciec z Polski. Wsiedli do poci gu jad cego do 

granicy z Czechos owacj . Tadeuszowi by o trudno zostawi  ci arn  o-

n , ale Jadwiga powiedzia a, e jest to ich jedyne wyj cie. Obieca , e 

wróci jak najszybciej i zabierze j , co zrobi  po dziewi ciu miesi cach. 

Dawna kole anka Tadeusza z Dar owa – Amelia czy ska – napisa-

a w swoim dzienniku (2017: 35), e kilka miesi cy po jego ucieczce do-

wiedzia a si , e dotar  do Gda ska. Tam zaprzyja ni  si  z lud mi robi -

cymi sieci rybackie. Po ucieczce do Szwecji Tadeusz napisa  list do 
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Amelii, która pó niej zosta a pisark . Poinformowa  w nim, e on i Ja-

dwiga s  bezpieczni (Ryc. 4). Tadeusz pisa  do Amelii co kilka lat, a  do 

jej mierci w 1993 roku. 

Tadeusz i Jadwiga doczekali si  syna Marka, który niestety zmar  

kilka dni po urodzeniu w Polsce. Po kilku latach sp dzonych w Szwecji 

Tadeusz i Jadwiga wyemigrowali do Stanów Zjednoczonych (Tarnowski 

2009: 145), gdzie urodzi a si  ich córka Christine. Tadeusz przez 35 lat 

naucza  w Army Language School, pó niej znanej jako Defense Language 

Institute w Monterey w Kalifornii. 

Po wojnie brat Tadeusza Antoni zosta  znanym artyst  w Krakowie. 
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Z u s a m m e n f a s s u n g  

Die Enkelin von TLH ist Professorin für Wirtschaft und Verwaltung an 

der University of the Pacific in Stockton, Kalifornien. Im Jahr 2019 hat sie die 

Biographie ihres Großvaters herausgegeben. Im Vortrag beschreibt sie die Epi-

sode seines Lebens in Dar owo, die unruhige Zeit des Aufbaus des Kommunis-

mus in Polen nach dem Kriege. Die neue Staatsform wurde von der Sowjetunion 

zur Vernichtung der Opposition vorgeschrieben. TLH war zu der Zeit im Magist-

rat der Stadt beschäftigt und gleichzeitig Lehrer am Lyzeum. Da er die Volks-
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partei on Miko ajczyk unterstützte, wurde er von der Geheimpolizei verhaftet. 

Es gelang ihm über Schweden in die USA zu fliehen. Nach vielen Schwierigkei-

ten konnte er dort einen Neuanfang beginnen. Er war lange Jahre Sprachwis-

senschaftler an dem Defense Language Institute of Monterey und ein bekannter 

Autor wissenschaftlicher Arbeiten. 

 




